FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/11/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/10/2023 3:57 PM

No. 101972-6

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82507-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CONTINENTAL DIVIDE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Petitioner,

vs.

PHILLIP A. TRAULSEN; RICHARD AND CAROL
TRAULSEN,

Respondents

CONTINENTAL DIVIDE INSURANCE COMPANY'S
PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jacquelyn A. Beatty, WSBA 17567
KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL
701 Fifth Ave., Ste. 3300
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 223-1313
Attorneys for Petitioner Continental Divide Insurance Company

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The “presumption of harm” is a severe penalty this Court imposes on liability insurers in limited circumstances. Should the “presumption of harm” apply when an insurer declines to disclose limits to third-party claimants thirty-one days after an accident; or when an insurer makes a policy-limits offer once liability becomes reasonably clear and before receiving any demand, but the claimants’ attorney rejects the offer as “too late”?

2. “Judgment” and “entry of judgment” have legal meaning. An arbitration award is not a “judgment” until it is reduced to a judgment and entered. Can post-judgment interest accrue on an arbitration award for which no judgment is entered?

3. Third-party claimants are not “first party claimants” or “covered persons” under Washington’s Insurance Fair Conduct Act (“IFCA”). Do third-party claimants have a cause of action

under IFCA when they refuse policy limits, and agree no judgment will be entered on their arbitration award?

CDIC seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. The Underlying Accident and Immediate Aftermath.

On April 10, 2017, a truck owned by Ephrata Trucking and driven by Samy Zewdu (“CDIC’s insureds” or “Zewdu”)¹ struck Phillip Traulsen. *See* Decision at 2023; Wn. App. LEXIS 688, *4. According to Zewdu, who never wavered on this point, Zewdu entered the intersection on a yellow light. CP 553; 1120-1121; 1770; 1860-1861; 1872. Witnesses said Phillip sprinted from the corner without looking. CP 925; 1096-1097; 1112-1126; 1860-1861. Phillip hit the side of Zewdu’s cab and was seriously injured. CP 903; 2216-2217. Kent’s Police Department and Washington State Patrol investigated. Neither could determine light color. CP 903, 904, 911, 919. Zewdu was not cited. *Id.*²

¹ CP 1970-2000.

² The Decision incorrectly states “less than a month after the accident, and nine months before making its first settlement offer,

Thirty-one days later, Phillip’s attorney wrote to CDIC. He demanded CDIC “disclose all insurance coverages and applicable amounts;” asserted “this information is available through discovery if a lawsuit is filed;” and claimed “the failure to reveal liability insurance pre-suit may be bad faith.” CP 1570.

On May 19, 2017, CDIC’s claims professional responded she was “unable [at that time] to determine if disclosure [of] our insured’s policy limits is in our insured’s best interest.” CP 1148. She declined to disclose and requested “additional information or documentation of your client’s injuries.” *Id.* The next CDIC heard from Phillip and his parents (“the Traulsens”) was June 19, 2017 when CDIC learned they filed their “First Suit” against CDIC’s insureds.³ CP 2218.

CDIC learned that two witnesses saw Zewdu run a red light.” Decision 48; 2023 Wn. App. LEXIS 688, *62. All evidence is contrary. CP 903-904, 911, 919, 1124-1125, 1120-1121, 1860-1861.

³ Respondents filed their “First Suit” nine days after CDIC’s request for additional documentation. CP 654, 1174. After they litigated their personal injury claims via arbitration, but *before* Judge Michael Scott dismissed First Suit—another material fact Division I got wrong, *see infra*—Respondents filed their “Second Suit,” which underlies this Petition.

Traulsens’ First Suit complaint sought damages for Traulsens’ personal injuries. However, despite being third-party claimants with no claims of their own against CDIC, Traulsens also alleged CDIC’s “obstruction to and deliberate decision not to disclos[e] the limits of insurance has precluded [them] from timely pursuing their own underinsurance UIM limits [and] cut off negotiations, foreclosed settlement . . . lost the opportunity to settle and protect [Zewdu] within the limits. . . .” CP 654, 1174. While Traulsens’ allegations about losing UIM benefits were false—they recovered 100 percent of those benefits four months after the accident,⁴ it was the Traulsens, advised by their lawyer, who “foreclosed settlement” and made sure CDIC would never have “the opportunity to settle and protect its insureds within the limits” of CDIC’s policy.

2. CDIC’s Efforts on Its Insureds’ Behalf.

CDIC assigned their insureds’ defense to Scott Fallon (“Fallon”) the day after learning of Traulsens’ First Suit, without reserving rights to contest coverage, CP 386-387, except to remind

⁴ CP 2237; 2238.

Zewdu his policy had a combined single liability limit of \$1,000,000, and suggest he “may want to speak with your personal attorney regarding” any excess damages the Traulsens may seek. *Id.* Zewdu declined personal counsel throughout. CP 1894; 2220.

On July 26, 2017 CDIC learned from Fallon that camera footage was inconclusive about light color. Fallon said experts were needed to evaluate light sequence. CP 1864; 1867-1868. Fallon also reported he requested medical records, and had produced CDIC’s policy to the Traulsens, disclosing limits. CP 2038-2043. A week later, Traulsens’ attorney asked State Farm, Traulsens’ UIM carrier, for benefits. CP 2237. On August 31, 2017, State Farm paid in full. CP 2238.

In November, Fallon reported his conversation with Zewdu to CDIC. Zewdu maintained he entered the intersection on a yellow; Phillip ran into the roadway without looking; Zewdu swerved; and Phillip contacted the front passenger side of Zewdu’s cab. Zewdu stopped; checked on Phillip; and called 911. CP 1872.

In December, Fallon reported on his incomplete medical records review, and told CDIC to expect “a policy limits demand from the plaintiffs’ attorneys [who] are very aggressive in their

tactics. . . .” CP 1877-1880. On January 19, 2018, Fallon reported his expert’s opinion the light was likely red when Zewdu entered the intersection but considering Phillip’s actions, there may be comparative negligence. CP 1888.

No policy limits demand ever came. However, mindful of Washington law that encourages insurers to undertake settlement negotiations once liability becomes reasonably clear, on February 13, 2018—well within a year of the accident—CDIC instructed Fallon to “offer to settle this suit for \$1,000,000 [policy limits] . . . in exchange for a release” of all claims against Zewdu and Ephrata. CP 1890. Fallon extended the offer, but Traulsens’ lawyer responded within the hour “[t]oo bad limits were not disclosed or offered before now.” The first part of this statement was untrue.⁵

Traulsens made no counteroffer. When Mrs. Traulsen was asked in deposition why the offer was not accepted, she said that was “something [CDIC] would have to ask David . . . that is something that we left in David’s hands,” meaning Traulsens’ attorney David Beninger. CP 1839-1841; 1925-1927; 1932.

⁵ CP 2038-2043.

Mr. Traulsen testified: “It was the first offer made.” “They were still looking into it.” And, “I depend on lawyers for these things.” CP 1837-1838; 1913-1915.

Twice more CDIC offered policy limits: First during mediation in April 2018, CP 372, which Traulsens rejected; then after an arbitration to which the Traulsens and Zewdu agreed instead of trial. CP 563-564; 2251. This offer, CDIC’s third, was extended one week after the arbitrator’s \$10,608,092 damages award was confirmed, *but not entered as a judgment*. CP 600. Traulsens said nothing.

3. Traulsens’ Status.

Traulsens are not CDIC’s insureds and therefore have no direct rights against CDIC; nor are Traulsens “first party claimants” under IFCA. Traulsens argue they are CDIC’s insureds’ assignees, but the only claims they can assert against CDIC as assignees are those Zewdu could have made at the time of assignment.

The first “assignment” was after the April 2018 mediation, and was never fully executed. CP 2250-2251. Zewdu signed the agreement in mid-May 2018. CP 533. Traulsens never did. CP

2251. As things stood then, there was no judgment or settlement against Zewdu on which interest could possibly be due or limits paid. Then instead of starting trial on May 29, 2018, CP 551, Traulsens and Zewdu agreed to arbitrate, which commenced on May 31, 2018. CP 563-564; 573.⁶

The second “assignment” is part of an agreement dated March 5, 2019. CP 2052-2053. This agreement resulted from months of negotiations after the arbitration, CP 2045-2050; after the arbitration award’s confirmation, CP 584; and after CDIC’s third policy-limits offer, CP 391, that went unanswered.

In this March 2019 agreement, CDIC’s insureds assigned “all claims, causes of action, privileges and damages against their insurers” to Traulsens. CP 2052. Referencing the arbitration award, Traulsens agreed to “delay entry of judgment.” CP 2052–2053. Zewdu promised to cooperate. *Id.*

⁶ Division I said “CDIC was aware of this stipulation [to arbitrate] and agreed to participate.” Decision 6; 2023 Wn. App. LEXIS 688, * 7. CDIC did not “agree to participate.” CDIC was not a party.

B. Procedural Background.

Following the March 2019 agreement, Traulsens and Zewdu stipulated to amend the First Suit’s complaint—without court approval. Traulsens reasserted their already-arbitrated claims against CDIC’s insureds, and added new defendants: CDIC, CDIC’s independent adjuster Evergreen, Mack Trucking (trailer-owner), and Mack’s insurer, State National, which had denied coverage. CP 2731-34; 2920.

Effective June 1, 2019, the First Suit moved to Judge Michael Scott.

The would-be defendants objected to Respondents’ amended complaint and filed various motions. *See, e.g.*, CP 1204-1213 (CDIC’s Motion to Dismiss or Stay Claims). Judge Scott—apparently having reviewed the docket—observed that “the confirmed arbitration award was a final determination. . . . A judgment on the award would be appropriate.” CP 1216-1217. Then, “[i]n view of this procedural background,” he “direct[ed] the parties to address the following issues:

- Was it appropriate for the original parties to . . . amend their pleadings [and] file the Amended Complaint, which added

new parties? Dkt. Nos. 108, 110.

- Should the Court dismiss the Amended Complaint because this case has already been finally adjudicated prior to the filing of the stipulation to amend the pleadings?”

CP 1216-18.

Judge Scott set a briefing schedule. *Id.* Evergreen and Mack argued the arbitration award should be considered a final judgment. CDIC joined Evergreen’s brief but did not itself argue this issue. CP 1726-27.

On August 2, 2019, consistent with his prior order noting the “procedural background” of the “confirmed arbitration award [that] was a final determination of all claims then pending. . . . A judgment on the award would be appropriate,” CP 1216-1217. Judge Scott dismissed Traulsens’ First Suit. He concluded: “Plaintiffs’ filing of the Second Amended Complaint in this case seven months after confirmation of the arbitration award was improper. It was contrary to the finality of the confirmed arbitration award, and to the orderly administration of justice under the Civil Rules.” He struck all pending motions “as moot.” CP 1222. There is no indication Judge Scott relied on or otherwise

“accepted” any argument CDIC made or joined. Before requesting briefs, he had observed the confirmed arbitration award was a final determination, though not reduced to judgment.

Also, the day *before* Judge Scott ordered Traulsens’ First Suit be dismissed, Traulsens filed this Second Suit—without notifying Judge Scott or anyone else. CP 11 (showing filing date of August 1, 2018).

Multiple cross motions were filed in and decided by the trial court in this Second Suit. An appeal and cross-appeal were taken. Pertinent to this Petition are the following three determinations giving rise to the issues for which CDIC seeks review.

One: The trial court found “CDIC acted reasonably and in good faith when it declined to disclose the coverage limits of its policy to [Traulsens’] counsel only 31 days after the accident.” CP 1818. But the trial court found issues of fact as to whether CDIC acted “in good faith by making its first settlement offer in February 2018.” CP 2419. Division I held not only that fact questions exist as to whether CDIC acted in bad faith when CDIC did not disclose limits to Traulsens’ attorney 31 days post-

accident,⁷ and whether CDIC committed bad faith when making its first policy-limits offer ten months after the accident.⁸ Division I also held harm can be presumed under these circumstances.⁹

Two: The trial court entered judgment for the Traulsens for \$1,535,980.15 in post-judgment interest, due on the arbitration award that was never reduced to judgment. Division I affirmed the trial court's decision the Traulsens were entitled to post-judgment, though it shortened the interest period, directing recalculation on remand.¹⁰

Three: The trial court found, and Division I affirmed, CDIC liable to the Traulsens under IFCA for not paying them policy limits upon the arbitration award's confirmation.¹¹ Division I also held CDIC's "nonpayment of interest for two years" to the Traulsens is actionable under IFCA.¹²

⁷ Decision 58; 2023 Wn. App. LEXIS 688, *74.

⁸ *Id.*

⁹ Decision 51; 2023 Wn. App. LEXIS 688, *66.

¹⁰ Decision 29-30; 2023 Wn. App. LEXIS 688, *37-38.

¹¹ Decision 57; 2023 Wn. App. LEXIS 688, *73.

¹² *Id.*

IV. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD GRANT THE PETITION

Multiple Washington courts, including this Court, have said insurers should undertake settlement negotiations when liability becomes reasonably clear, but may not pay limits and leave an insured with an empty policy. This Court has also held insurers need not disclose policy limits to third-party claimants unless the insurer can affirmatively determine disclosure is in their insureds' best interests. CDIC followed these rules. Division I did not. Claimants cannot reject limits offers made following investigation, make no counteroffers, and then contend insurers have committed bad faith and presume the insured was harmed.

“Judgment” means “judgment” under Washington law, and judgment must be “entered” before post-judgment interest accrues. A confirmed arbitration award is not a “judgment.” Allowing Division I’s Decision to stand upends the Civil Rules, Washington statutory law, this Court’s precedent, and the plain language of CDIC’s policy that covers an insured’s obligation to pay post-judgment interest on the entire amount of a judgment, though only until payment, offer of payment, or deposit into the court registry, whichever comes first.

Washington is not a direct-action state. Third-party claimants have no direct claims against insurers, nor are they “first party claimants” under IFCA. Traulsens as third-party claimants refused to accept CDIC’s indemnity limits. And *not* being judgment creditors, the Traulsens had no claim for post-judgment interest. The rulings below that CDIC is liable under IFCA for non-payment of these “policy benefits” *to the Traulsens* is contrary to the plain language of IFCA, and to the decisions of this and other Washington courts.

A. This Court Should Review Division I’s Decision That Respondents Get a Presumption of Harm.

A bad faith claimant must show an insurer’s breach of some duty, for example: the duty to defend; the duty to pay a judgment; the duty to explore settlement; the duty to investigate a claim; and that such breach was “unreasonable, frivolous, or unfounded.” *Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 150 Wn.2d 478, 485, 78 P.3d 1174 (2003). Being incorrect is not bad faith. *Transcon. Ins. Co. v. Wash. Pub. Utils. Districts’ Util. Sys.*, 111 Wn.2d 452, 470-71, 760 P.2d 337 (1988).

“Harm” to the insured is an essential element of bad faith. *Safeco Ins. Co. v. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d 383, 389, 823 P.2d 499 (1992). “An essential element of any tort claim is that the alleged wrongful conduct caused harm.” *Safeco v. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d at 389. Ordinarily, tort claimants must affirmatively prove harm. But in *Safeco v. Butler*, this Court created an exception to that rule when an insurer undertakes its insured’s defense under a reservation of rights, and then performs unreasonably. This Court imposed a “rebuttable presumption of harm” under these circumstances. *Id.* at 393.

In *Kirk v. Mt. Airy Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 558, 562–563, 565, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998), this Court extended the rebuttable presumption of harm to an unreasonable failure to defend.

In *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 736, 49 P.3d 887 (2002), this Court further extended the presumption if “an insurer refuses, in bad faith, to settle a tort claim asserted by an injured party.”

But harm is not, nor should it be, presumed in all bad faith cases. This Court held in *Coventry Assoc. v. Amer. States Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 269, 278-282, 961 P.2d 933 (1998) that an insurer’s

bad faith failure to investigate a first-party insured's claim does not give rise to the presumption of harm.

In *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc.*,¹³ a third-party case like this one, this Court said: “As in *Coventry*, a reservation of rights or failure to defend in any capacity is not at issue. Therefore, no rebuttable presumption of harm can arise here. [The insured] must prove actual harm, and its ‘damages are limited to the amounts it has incurred as a result of the bad faith. . . .’” Although *Onvia* did not involve whether an insurer must disclose limits to third parties almost immediately after an accident; or the timing of an insurer's first settlement offer, this Court plainly recognized that harm should not be presumed in all bad faith cases. Rather, this remedy's application should be limited to situations where a substantial conflict exists between the interests of the insurer and the insured. This is not that case.

Division I reinstated the assigned bad faith claim based on CDIC's decision not to disclose policy limits thirty-one days post-accident. That, *ab initio*, was error and contravenes this Court's and Division I's precedent. Damages information was incomplete

¹³ 165 Wn.2d 122, 133, 196 P.3d 664 (2008).

at that stage. Zewdu maintained the right-of-way was his. Zewdu was not cited.

Attorney Beninger's disclosure demand came early, before suit was filed, before damages were fixed and known, and before CDIC had time to fully investigate the liability claim. CDIC's response that it could not then determine if disclosure was in Zewdu's best interests followed the law announced in *Smith v. Safeco Ins.*, 112 Wn. App. 645, 653, 50 P.3d 277 (2002), *rev'd on other grounds*, 150 Wn.2d 478, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003): "[A]n insurer need not disclose if a reasonable person would believe that disclosure is not in the insured's best interest, or if a reasonable person would not know, after reasonably marshalling the facts and evaluating the claim, whether disclosure was or was not in the insured's best interests."

An insurer also need not contact an insured every time a claimant so demands. *Smith v. Safeco Ins.*, 112 Wn. App. at 656. As in *Smith*, Traulsens did not respond to CDIC's request for information before filing suit nine days later. As in *Smith*, Traulsens offer "nothing even tending to suggest [Zewdu] would have consented to disclosure if contacted before [Traulsens] filed

suit.”¹⁴ And why would he? He believed the light was yellow when he entered the intersection and Phillip ran out without looking.

CDIC did not disclose limits immediately, but limits were disclosed shortly thereafter. In *Onvia*, this Court said: “The certified facts and questions, as well as the briefing from the parties, *focus on St. Paul’s lack of action immediately* following the insured’s tender of the underlying action to St. Paul. . . . Hence, the facts of this case do not present a situation substantially different from that in *Coventry*, where the focus of the bad faith claim was on acts that arose immediately following the claim tender.” In *Onvia*, as in *Coventry*, this Court rejected the presumption of harm in all instances of bad faith, and particularly for actions that occurred early.

Regarding CDIC’s settlement efforts, CDIC tried repeatedly to settle the Traulsens’ claim—to no avail. Yet Division I said a question of fact existed as to whether CDIC’s conduct constituted bad faith—with Division I further holding harm would be presumed if liability found. This expansion of rebuttable

¹⁴ *Id.*

presumed harm also is unwarranted. And it contravenes this Court’s rationale for the remedy.

In *Smith v. Safeco*, 112 Wn. App. at 651, Division I discussed an insurer’s “affirmative duty to make a good faith effort” and noted an insurer can be “in bad faith [for] failing to settle a claim against the insured within policy limits.”¹⁵

The settlement conduct in *Besel* giving rise to presumed harm involved an insurer that failed to answer the claimant’s multiple policy limits demands, failed to notify its insured of same, and failed to tell the insured of his potential exposure above limits.

Quite the opposite happened here. First, Traulsens never made a demand—for limits or anything else. Second, if their complaint is to be believed, by the time they filed their First Suit on May 30, 2017, settlement was already foreclosed. CP 1174. Third, CDIC notified Zewdu of the potential for excess exposure, at least twice, and encouraged him to consult personal counsel, which he refused to do. Fourth, even without a demand, once CDIC’s investigation of liability and damages made it reasonably

¹⁵ Multiple Washington cases are in accord. See *Smith v. Safeco*, 112 Wn. App. 645, notes 20, 21, 22, 23 and accompanying text.

clear its insureds faced liability, CDIC made repeated efforts to settle, which the policy allows CDIC to do: “We may investigate and settle any claim or ‘suit’ as we consider appropriate,”¹⁶ and Washington law encourages, if not requires.

In sum, this Court should accept review of Division I’s holdings on presumption of harm and define its scope and limitations.

B. “Judgment” and “Entry of Judgment” Have Legal Meanings. A Confirmed Arbitration Award Is Not a “Judgment.”

No judgment was entered on the Traulsens’ arbitration award. This is undisputed. In March 2019, Traulsens expressly agreed to “delay entry of judgment.”¹⁷

CR 54(a) defines “judgment” as “the final determination of the rights of the parties. . . .” A judgment follows a “verdict or decision.” CR 54(e).

CR 58 entitled “*Entry of Judgment*,” provides: “all *judgments shall be entered* immediately after they are signed by

¹⁶ CP 1987.

¹⁷ Furthermore, this agreement preceded—*by months*—the conduct the Traulsens later argued, and Division I said, judicially estopped CDIC from arguing the award was not a judgment.

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