FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/10/2023 11:20 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101972-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PHILLIP A. TRAULSEN; RICHARD AND CAROL TRAULSEN,

Respondents,

v.

CONTINENTAL DIVIDE INSURANCE COMPANY, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LUVERA LAW FIRM

By: David Beninger WSBA No. 18432 Deborah L. Martin WSBA No. 16370

701 5th Ave Ste 6700 Seattle, WA 98104-7016 (206) 467-6090

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO REVIEW

Without addressing RAP 13.4(b), CDIC challenges only three aspects of the Court of Appeals' 58-page unpublished decision. None of the issues raised by CDIC merit further review.

A. The Court of Appeals followed settled law in holding that CDIC's liability for bad faith will entitle its insureds to a presumption of harm.

CDIC's contention that its insureds should not "get a presumption of harm" (Pet. 14) ignores decades of precedent establishing the burden of proof when a liability insurer is sued for bad faith. As to CDIC's breach of its good faith duty to pay interest, to investigate and to settle Traulsen's claims against its insureds, the Court of Appeals did nothing more than remand for trial, holding that Traulsen established triable issues of fact. Its unpublished decision does not finally adjudicate anything and presents no basis for this Court's review.

This Court has consistently imposed a presumption that an insured is harmed by its liability insurer's bad faith, shifting to the insurer the burden to prove that its insureds were not "demonstrably worse off" as a result of the insurer's breach of its duty of good faith. *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Dan Paulson Const., Inc.,* 161 Wn.2d 903, 920, ¶34, 169 P.3d 1 (2007) (quoting *Safeco Ins. Co. of America v. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d 383, 390, 823 P.2d 499 (1992)). Because the insurer controls whether it acts in good faith or bad, placing the burden on the insurer recognizes that the "course cannot be rerun." *Id.* at 391.

"When a carrier acts in bad faith, it is in no position to argue that the steps the insured took to protect [them]self should inure to the insurer's benefit." *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co. of Wisconsin*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 737, 49 P.3d 887 (2002); *Greer v. N.W. Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 109 Wn.2d 191, 204, 743 P.2d 1244 (1987). Yet that is exactly what CDIC argues here.

CDIC concedes that this Court has "imposed a 'rebuttable presumption of harm" when a liability breaches its duty of good faith, but asserts the presumption should not apply here because CDIC defended Zewdu and Ephrata against Traulsen's claims, arguing that its actions did not "substantially conflict" with its insureds' interests. (Pet. 15-16) But this Court has repeatedly rejected that argument, holding that the rebuttable presumption of harm "do[es] not depend on how an insurer acted in bad faith. Rather, the principles apply whenever an insurer acts in bad faith, whether by poorly defending a claim under a reservation of rights, refusing to defend a claim, or failing to properly investigate a claim." Schmidt v. Coogan, 181 Wn. 2d 661, 677, ¶37, 335 P.3d 424 (2014) (quoting Besel, 146 Wn.2d at 737).

Thus, a liability insurer that unreasonably fails to investigate and refuses to disclose policy limits to a claimant without consulting its insured, knowing it may thereby foreclose settlement, engages in bad faith justifying a presumption of harm. See Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 478, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003); Miller v. Kenny, 180 Wn. App. 772, 806, ¶73, 325 P.3d 278 (2014).⁴ So does a liability insurer that refuses to unconditionally put its limits on the table when it is in its insureds' interests to do so. See Moratti ex rel. Tarutis v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 162 Wn. App. 495, 507-08, ¶¶20-21, 245 P.3d 939 (2011) (insurer's duty "to ascertain the most favorable terms available to settle"), rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1022, cert. denied, 568 U.S. 929 (2012).

Traulsen's assigned claims allege each of these bad faith acts by CDIC. But CDIC will be subject to a rebuttable presumption of harm for this conduct only if Traulsen establishes CDIC's bad faith at trial. "Whether an insurer acted in bad faith remains a question of fact." *Smith*, 150

⁴ CDIC quotes only the Court of Appeals decision in *Smith*. (Pet. 17, 19) This Court *reversed* that decision in the cited opinion.

Wn.2d at 485. The Court of Appeals correctly held that a jury *could* find that "CIDIC's decision to withhold policy limits information... was company policy to avoid a policy limits demand rather than an analysis of whether disclosure would be in the insureds' best interest." (Op. ¶119)

CDIC also takes issue with the Court of Appeals' conclusion that a jury should resolve Traulsen's claims for bad faith failure to settle, arguing that it "offered policy limits" three times. (Pet. 7, 19-20) In fact, CDIC conditioned each limits "offer" on a full release and dismissal of the lawsuit, which would have foreclosed Traulsen's recovery against "any and all" other insureds or their coverages, including the State National policy insuring the trailer owned by Mack Trucking, LLC, which its investigation failed to disclose. (CP 600, 2013, 2287) CDIC's "offers" also would have also barred Traulsen from

pursuing the assigned claims against CDIC itself. *See Day*, 197 Wn. App. at 765-67, ¶¶28-33. (§III at 12, n.1, *supra*)

CDIC's fact-bound arguments in advance of a final adjudication of its liability posit no issue for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b). And the few inapposite cases cited by CDIC that reject a presumption of harm do not establish any conflict justifying further review in this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1).

CDIC claims *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 122, 196 P.3d 664 (2008), is not "substantially different" from this case. (Pet. 18) But the Court itself described *Onvia* as involving "bad-faith claims handling that is not dependent on the duty to indemnify, settle, or defend" because the liability insurer had "no duty to defend, indemnify, or settle," as a matter of law. 165 Wn.2d at 132, ¶¶21, 23.

CDIC also glosses over the fact that Coventry

Associates v. American States, Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 269,

961 P.2d 933 (1998) (Pet. 15-16, 18) involved a first-party property insurer, not a liability insurer. The *Coventry* Court confirmed that "a rebuttable presumption of harm exists as a result of an insurer's bad faith act in the third party context . . . because insurers have a heightened duty of good faith in such situations" that first party property insurers do not have. 136 Wn.2d at 281.

The Court of Appeals applied this Court's settled precedent. Like its fanciful version of the facts, CDIC's inapposite authority provides no basis for review, particularly in the absence of a final judgment.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly remanded for trial on whether CDIC acted in bad faith in unreasonably delaying payment of interest on the confirmed arbitration award.

The Court of Appeals properly held that CDIC's "duty to pay interest was triggered by confirmation of the award" in superior court. (Op. ¶66) CDIC's argument that the "award" is not a "judgment" within the meaning of its Supplementary Payments coverage, which mandates

payment on "[a]ll interest on the full amount of any judgment . . ." (CP 517, 799), ignores that the Court of Appeals held that Judge Rothrock did not abuse her discretion in applying judicial estoppel after Judge Scott had accepted CDIC's argument that "the arbitration award was a final determination of all claims . . . equivalent to a judgment." (Op. ¶59; see also CP 596, 678-79)

CDIC argues that a "confirmed arbitration award is not a 'judgment'" under CR 54(a) (Pet. 20), but does not raise as an issue, or cite any authority challenging the Court of Appeals' affirmance of "the trial court's application of the doctrine [of judicial estoppel] . . . based on undisputed facts." (Op. ¶¶57-58) (citing *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.,* 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, ¶7, 160 P.3d 13 (2007)). "Issues not raised in a petition for review will not be considered by this court." *Wood v. Postelthwaite*, 82 Wn.2d 387, 388, 510 P.2d 1109 (1973).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Judge Rothrock did not abuse her discretion in holding that CDIC would have derived an unfair advantage by arguing contrary to its earlier position that no judgment was ever entered in Traulsen's original lawsuit that was resolved by arbitration. (CP 678-79) CDIC joined in Evergreen's motion to dismiss Traulsen's amended complaint, arguing that Traulsen's underlying case was "over" when the court confirmed the arbitration award and that entered "judgment was pursuant **RCW** 7.04A.250(1)." (CP 592, 1726-27) Judge Scott accepted this argument in dismissing the second amended complaint. (CP 596)⁵

⁵ Characterizing this portion of its decision as a "comment," CDIC argues Division One's opinion is "contrary to what Judge Scott actually said." (Pet. 24) Not true. The Court of Appeals quoted verbatim from Judge Scott's Order Dismissing Traulsen's Second Amended Complaint. (Op. ¶59) CDIC's assertion (Pet. 24) that Judge Scott's August 2 order of dismissal (CP 595-98) predates CDIC's July 29 joinder in Evergreen's motion (CP 1726-27) is similarly incorrect.

In any event, CDIC's interpretation of its policy's Supplementary Payment language is meritless. CDIC concedes that Washington courts define "judgment" as "the final determination of the rights of the parties in the action . . ." CR 54(a)(1) (Pet. 20); see Denney v. City of Richland, 195 Wn.2d 649, 654, ¶6, 462 P.3d 842 (2020). An order confirming an arbitration award meets that definition. Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, n.6, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) (arbitration award need not "be reduced to judgment" for purposes of finality).

Division One properly remanded for trial on Traulsen's claim that CDIC acted unreasonably in refusing to pay any interest for two years even "after acknowledging that interest was due." (Op. ¶91) CDIC's argument that it owed its insured no duty to pay any interest at all presents no ground for review.

C. Traulsen, as the insureds' assignee, had standing to assert their claims that CDIC "unreasonably denied a claim for benefits" under IFCA.

Traulsen stood in the shoes of CDIC's insureds under a valid assignment of the insureds' rights against CDIC, which included the right under IFCA of "any first party claimant . . . who is unreasonably denied a claim . . . for benefits by an insurer" to sue for damages. RCW 48.30.015(1). CDIC's contention that the Court of Appeals "create[d] a private cause of action for third party claimants" (Pet. 25) is meritless.

The Traulsens were suing not as "third party claimants" (Pet. 26), but as assignees of Zewdu and Ephrata, the "first party claimants" under CDIC's liability policy. The insureds assigned to Traulsen their "right to payment as a covered person under an insurance policy." RCW 48.30.015(4). (Op. ¶38). As Judge Cahan noted, CDIC's payment of its limits would benefit its insureds by

partially satisfying their adjudicated liability to Traulsen. (CP 280-81).

Washington courts have long approved assignments, such as this one:

An insured may assign its bad faith claims to a third party.... An assignee steps into the shoes of the assignor and has all the rights of the assignor.... The assignee's cause of action is then direct, not derivative.

Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 176 Wn. App. 185, 200-01, ¶29, 312 P.3d 976 (2013) (internal citations omitted), rev. denied, 179 Wn.2d 1010 (2014). "The typical settlement agreement involves . . . an assignment to the plaintiff of the insured's coverage and bad faith claims against the insurer." Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC, 175 Wn.2d 756, 764–65, ¶15, 287 P.3d 551 (2012). That is exactly what occurred here.

CDIC admits (Pet. 7) that its insureds signed the first assignment in May 2018 (CP 2243-51)⁶, and signed the second assignment in March 2019 (CP 2254-55) because even though its insureds "had been adjudicated liable . . . to the tune of \$10.6 million," CDIC failed to pay anything on their behalf. (Op. ¶51) Zewdu and Ephrata continue to personally owe Traulsen interest at 12 percent on the unpaid balance of the award under an assignment agreement that provides them no covenant protection against execution.

Essentially, CDIC argues that it may, without consequence, refuse to partially satisfy its insureds' liability pursuant to its contract of insurance, depriving

⁶ Ignoring its concession in the declaratory action (CP 2690), CDIC now complains the first assignment is invalid because Traulsen did not sign it. (Pet. 7) CDIC offers no argument that an assignment signed only by the assignor is void. An assignment is not subject to the statute of frauds, RCW 19.36.010, and need not even be in writing. *Koch v. Aetna Life Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn.*, 165 Wash. 329, 343, 5 P.2d 313 (1931).

these first party insureds of a benefit under their liability policy, because after years of litigation and multiple court orders, it finally paid its limits into the court registry. The Court of Appeals' rejection of that argument under IFCA's plain language provides no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

D. The Court should award Traulsen his fees.

In holding that CDIC's "nonpayment of policy limits" violated IFCA, the Court of Appeals held that Traulsen was entitled to his attorney fees under (among other grounds) RCW 48.30.015(3), which mandates a fee award "after a finding of unreasonable denial of a claim for coverage or payment of benefits." (Op. ¶104) This Court should award Traulsen his fees in answering CDIC's petition for review, RAP 18.1(j), which challenges that IFCA ruling and wrongfully seeks to deprive its insureds of their insurance benefits. *See Olympic Steamship Co., Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co.*, 117 Wn.2d 37, 811 P.2d 673 (1991).

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny review and award Traulsen attorney fees in responding to CDIC's petition for review.

I certify that this brief is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 4,931 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).